FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/7/2021 8:00 AM

SUPREME COURT NO. 100183-5 COA NO. 54094-1-II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/7/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

SEIRAH DANIELS, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

Lewis County Cause No. 19-1-00090-21

The Honorable Andrew J. Toynbee, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Skylar T. Brett Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

LAW OFFICE OF SKYLAR T. BRETT, PLLC
P.O. Box 18084
Seattle, WA 98118
(206) 494-0098
skylarbrettlawoffice@gmail.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Seirah Daniels, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Seirah Daniels seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on August 3, 2021. A copy of the opinion is attached.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1: A guilty plea is not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made unless it includes a factual basis that meets each element of the charged offense. Was the factual basis for Ms. Daniels's guilty plea to acting as an accomplice inadequate when it did not specify that she had acted with knowledge that her actions would promote or facilitate a crime that was committed by her husband?

ISSUE 2: A defense attorney provides ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to bring applicable mitigating factors to the court's attention during sentencing. Did Ms. Daniels's attorney provide ineffective assistance by failing to argue that her youth posed a mitigating factor when she was eighteen or

nineteen years old at the time of her husband's crime and the court agreed that she had lesser culpability and sentenced her to one month above the low end of the standard sentencing range?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Seirah Daniels was eighteen or nineteen years old¹ when her husband committed Rape of a Child in the Second Degree. CP 1-3, 13. Ms. Daniels pleaded guilty to her husband's offense as an accomplice. CP 4-16. The factual basis for her guilty plea is set forth as follows:

... My 18 year old husband engaged in sexual intercourse with K.M.U... K.M.U. was 12 years old and not married to or in a state registered domestic partnership with my husband (Johnny Roach). I aided and encouraged this sex act.

CP 13.

Ms. Daniels's statement upon plea of guilty did not incorporate any separate recitation of the facts or any other document. CP 13. The trial judge did not expand upon Ms.

2

¹ The charging period spanned a two-month period, which included Ms. Daniels's nineteenth birthday. CP 1-3, 13.

Daniels's written statement in any way before accepting her guilty plea. See RP generally.

At Ms. Daniels's sentencing hearing, her defense attorney argued that she should be sentenced to the low end of the standard range because she is "a follower" who "makes bad decisions" and had not been the primary aggressor in the case.

RP 22.

But defense counsel did not point out that the court could impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range based on Ms. Daniels's youthfulness at the time of the offense. *See* RP *generally*.

The court sentenced Ms. Daniels to one month above the low end of the standard range because 96 months was equivalent to eight years, which the court felt had "a certain ring to it." RP 24.

Ms. Daniels timely appealed. CP 45-47. The Court of Appeals affirmed her conviction in an unpublished opinion. *See* Appendix.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that there was insufficient factual basis for Ms. Daniels's guilty plea because the factual basis fails to establish that she acted with knowledge that her actions would promote or facilitate the commission of the crime. Guidance from this Court is necessary because there is no published caselaw in Washington regarding the requirements of due process when an accused person pleads guilty to committing a crime as an accomplice.

Ms. Daniels pleaded guilty to acting as an accomplice to her husband's sex crime. CP 13. But her guilty plea did not specify that she had acted with knowledge that her actions would promote or facilitate the crime, as required to convict her as an accomplice. CP 13; RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a). Ms. Daniels's guilty plea was not entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently because it is not supported by an adequate factual basis.

The modern criminal justice system "is for the most part a system of pleas, not a system of trials." *Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. 134, 143, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 182 L.Ed.2d 379 (2012).

Because a guilty plea involves waiver of the constitutional rights ensuring the integrity of the fact-finding process at a trial, it is critical that an accused person understand *what s/he is admitting to* for this "system of pleas" to meet the most basic requirements of due process. *See United States v. Ruiz*, 536 U.S. 622, 628, 122 S.Ct. 2450, 153 L.Ed.2d 586 (2002) (regarding extent of constitutional rights waived pursuant to a guilty plea).

Due process requires a guilty plea to be knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently made. *State v. R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. 699, 705–06, 133 P.3d 505 (2006) (*citing Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 243, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969)); U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. Absent an affirmative showing that a guilty plea is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, the plea must be vacated. *See, e.g., State v. Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d 163, 176, 249 P.3d 1015 (2011).

A guilty plea is not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary – and, thus, cannot pass constitutional muster – if the accused

person does not fully understand the elements of the charge.

Bousley v. United States, 523 U.S. 614, 618-19, 118 S.Ct. 1604,
140 L.Ed.2d 828 (1998); State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 91, 117,
225 P.3d 956 (2010); State v. Chervenell, 99 Wn.2d 309, 318,
662 P.2d 836 (1983). In fact, the U.S. Supreme Court has
identified such an understanding as "the first and most
universally recognized requirement of due process." Bousley,
523 U.S. at 618; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I,
§ 3.

Absent such an understanding, our "system of pleas" risks becoming one in which accused people mistakenly admit to crimes that they did not commit – with very few constitutional checks on convictions of the legally or factually innocent. *See e.g. Henderson v. Morgan*, 426 U.S. 637, 645 n.13, 96 S.Ct. 2253, 49 L.Ed.2d 108 (1976) (a guilty plea "cannot stand as an intelligent admission of guilt" when the accused does not have a "complete understanding of the charge").

The factual basis for a plea is insufficient if it fails to include all the elements of the offense. *R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 706.

Ms. Daniels pleaded guilty to acting as an accomplice to a sex offense committed by her husband. CP 13. In order to establish that a person has acted as an accomplice, the state must prove that s/he, "with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commissioner of the crime," solicits, commands, encourages, aids or agrees to aid someone else in committing that crime. RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a) (emphasis added); See also State v. Clark, 190 Wn. App. 736, 762, 361 P.3d 168 (2015); State v. Bauer, 180 Wn.2d 929, 943, 329 P.3d 67 (2014).

But the factual basis for Ms. Daniels's plea reads only as follows:

... My 18 year old husband engaged in sexual intercourse with K.M.U... K.M.U. was 12 years old and not married to or in a state registered domestic partnership with my husband (Johnny Roach). I aided and encouraged this sex act.

CP 13.

This factual basis for is inadequate because it does not establish that Ms. Daniels acted with knowledge that her actions would "promote or facilitate the commission of the crime." *R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 706; RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a). Accordingly, the factual basis establishes only that Ms. Daniels's husband committed a crime and that Ms. Daniels aided and encouraged his offense in some way that falls short of accomplice liability. Ms. Daniels's guilty plea was not knowing, voluntary, and intelligent because the factual basis is insufficient to satisfy the elements of accomplice liability. *R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 706.

The requirement that the state prove that the accused acted with knowledge that his/her actions would "promote or facilitate the commission of the crime" is not a mere technicality.

This Court has held, for example, that reversal is required if the jury is instructed only that the state must prove that the accused acted with knowledge that his/her actions would

facilitate the commission of "a crime," rather than "the crime." *State v. Cronin*, 142 Wn.2d 568, 14 P.3d 752 (2000). This is because, such an instruction would relieve the state of its burden of proving each element of the offense.

In Ms. Daniels's case, the factual basis for the plea fails to demonstrate that she acted with knowledge that she was helping to promote or facilitate any crime at all.

Even so, the Court of Appeals holds that the factual basis for Ms. Daniels's plea was sufficient because she admitted to aiding and encouraging "this sex act" between her husband and K.M.U. "when Daniels knew that K.M.U. was 12 years old and more than 36 months younger than [her husband]." Appendix, p. 5.

The Court of Appeals' reasoning is unavailing for two reasons:

First, the language to which the Court cites is wholly silent regarding the critical question of whether Ms. Daniels acted with knowledge that she was helping to promote or

facilitate the specific crime committed by her husband.

Appendix, p. 5; CP 13. For this reason, the Court of Appeals' logic is inapposite to the issue actually raised by Ms. Daniels's appeal.

Second, Ms. Daniels did not admit that she knew K.M.U.'s age at the time. The Court of Appeals' assertion that she admitted to "kn[owing] K.M.U. was 12 years old" is belied by the plan language of the factual basis for the guilty plea.

Appendix, p. 5; CP 13.

It was the trial court's duty to clarify these gaps in the written factual basis at the time of the plea hearing. *R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. at 706. The court's failure to sufficiently develop facts on the record requires vacation of Ms. Daniels's conviction and dismissal of the charge with prejudice. *Id*.

The state cannot demonstrate that Ms. Daniels's plea meets the "first and most universally recognized requirement of due process" because the record is insufficient to show that she understood the elements of the charge to which she allegedly

admitted. *Bousley*, 523 U.S. at 618. Ms. Daniels's plea "cannot stand as an intelligent admission of guilt" because the record fails to show that she had a "complete understanding of the charge." *Henderson*, 426 U.S. at 645 n.13.

This significant issue of constitutional law is of substantial public interest because implicates the fundamental requirements of due process in any case in which an accused person pleads guilty to committing a crime as an accomplice. There are no published cases on this question from either this Court or the Court of Appeals. Guidance from this Court is necessary to ensure that the basic requirements of due process are met in such cases. This Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

B. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that Ms. Daniels received ineffective assistance of counsel during sentencing because her attorney unreasonably failed to raise her youth as a mitigating factor. The Court of Appeals skipped a step of the analysis by failing to consider whether any tactical decision by defense counsel was *reasonable* before holding that Ms.

Daniels is unable to demonstrate that he provided incompetent representation.

Ms. Daniels's defense attorney argued that she should be sentenced to the low end of the standard range because she is "a follower" who "makes bad decisions" and had not been the primary aggressor in the case. RP 22-23.

Ms. Daniels was eighteen or nineteen years old during the commission of the offense. CP 1-3, 13. But her attorney did not point out to the court that she was eligible for an exceptional sentence below the standard range because of her youthfulness and attendant reduced culpability. *See* RP 22-23. As a result, the sentencing court did not consider an exceptional sentence on that basis. *See* RP *generally*. Ms. Daniels received ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing.

The right to counsel includes the right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). The accused is prejudiced by counsel's deficient

performance if there is a reasonable probability that it affected the outcome of the proceedings. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862.²

A criminal defendant has a right to the effective assistance of counsel at sentencing. *Gardner v. Florida*, 430 U.S. 349, 358, 97 S.Ct. 1197, 51 L.Ed.2d 393 (1977); *State v. Adamy*, 151 Wn. App. 583, 588, 213 P.3d 627 (2009), *as amended* (Sept. 17, 2009). This includes a duty to investigate and present evidence and argument relating to mitigating factors. *See, e.g., Becton v. Barnett*, 2 F.3d 1149 (4th Cir. 1993).

A defense attorney provides ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to recognize and point the sentencing court to

^{- ...}

² Ineffective assistance of counsel is an issue of constitutional magnitude that can be raised for the first time on appeal. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862; RAP 2.5(a). Generally, one cannot appeal a standard-range sentence. *State v. McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d 47, 56, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017). But that rule does not apply to appeals addressing (a) a sentencing court's mistaken belief that a mitigating factor did not apply or (b) ineffective assistance of counsel by counsel's failure to research and raise an applicable mitigator. *Id*.

appropriate caselaw permitting leniency in sentencing. *Adamy*, 151 Wn. App. at 588 (*citing State v. McGill*, 112 Wn. App. 95, 101, 47 P.3d 173 (2002)). This is because "[a] trial court cannot make an informed decision if it does not know the parameters of its decision-making authority." *McGill*, 112 Wn. App. at 102. "Nor can [the court] exercise its discretion if it is not told it has discretion to exercise." *Id*.

An accused person is prejudiced by such a failure when there is a reasonable probability that the sentencing court would have imposed a more lenient sentence if the applicable mitigating factor had been properly raised. *Id.* This prejudice standard does not require the sentencing court to overtly express discomfort with the sentence imposed. *See McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d at 59. Rather, reversal is required so long as "the record suggests at least the possibility that the sentencing court would have considered [imposing a lesser sentence] had it properly understood its discretion to do so." *Id.*

In this case, Ms. Daniels's defense counsel provided ineffective assistance at sentencing by failing to argue for an exceptional sentence below the standard range based on Ms. Daniels's youthfulness at the time of the offense.

Recent advances in brain science have revealed "fundamental differences between adolescent and mature brains in the areas of risk and consequence assessment, impulse control, tendency toward antisocial behaviors, and susceptibility to peer pressure." *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 692, 358 P.3d 359 (2015) (*citing Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005); Jay N. Giedd, *Structural Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the Adolescent Brain*, 1021 Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 77 (2004)).

These characteristics of the still-developing adolescent brain cause young people to be "overrepresented statistically in virtually every category of reckless behavior." *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 569 (*citing* Arnett, Reckless Behavior in Adolescence: A Developmental Perspective, 12 Developmental Rev. 339

(1992)); Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 68, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010).

Young adults' relative lack of control over their conduct and environment means that "their irresponsible conduct is not as morally reprehensible" as that of a fully-mature adult. *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 570; *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 692. This diminished blameworthiness and "the distinctive attributes of youth" "diminish the penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences." *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 692 (*citing Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 477-78, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012); *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 71; *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 571).

Additionally, a young person's "inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including during a plea agreement) or his incapacity to assist his own attorneys" also create a greater likelihood that a young person will be convicted of a more serious offense in circumstances under which an older adult would only have sustained a less serious conviction.

Miller, 567 U.S. at 477-78 (citing Graham, 560 U.S. at 78;

J.D.B. v. North Carolina, 564 U.S. 261, 269, 131 S.Ct. 2394, 180 L.Ed.2d 310 (2011)).

Because the parts of the brain involved in behavior control remain undeveloped "well into a person's 20s," these advances in adolescent brain science apply to younger adults, in addition to juveniles. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 691 (*citing* Terry A. Maroney, *The False Promise of Adolescent Brain Science in Juvenile Justice*, 85 Notre Dame L. Rev. 89, 152 & n.252 (2009) (collecting studies); Giedd, 1021 Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 77); *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 574.

As a result, the Washington Supreme Court has ruled that a sentencing court must be permitted to consider youth as a mitigating factor in cases involving offenses committed shortly after a person reaches legal adulthood. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 696.³

³ This type of discretion is also required by the Eighth Amendment. *See State v. Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 19, 391 P.3d 409 (2017).

While an offender is never entitled to an exceptional sentence below the standard range, "every defendant is entitled to ask the trial court to consider such a sentence and to have the alternative actually considered." *In re Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322, 334, 166 P.3d 677 (2007). A sentence imposed without proper consideration of "an authorized mitigated sentence" qualifies as a "'fundamental defect' resulting in a miscarriage of justice." *McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d at 58 (*citing Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d at 332).

Ms. Daniels was entitled to request a mitigated sentence based on her youth and impulsivity at the time of the alleged offenses. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 696. Her defense attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to recognize and request that the sentencing court take her youthfulness into consideration. *Adamy*, 151 Wn. App. at 588; *McGill*, 112 Wn. App. at 101.

Ms. Daniels was prejudiced by her defense counsel's negligence because there is a reasonable probability that the

sentencing court would have imposed a more lenient sentence if her youthfulness had been properly considered. *McGill*, 112 Wn. App. at 102. The court sentenced Ms. Daniels to one month above the low end of the standard range because 96 months was equivalent to eight years, which the court felt had "a certain ring to it." RP 24. There is "at least the possibility that the sentencing court would have considered" imposing an exceptional sentence downward in Ms. Daniels's case if her attorney had pointed that option out to the court. *McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d at 59; *McGill*, 112 Wn. App. at 102. Counsel's error requires that Ms. Daniels's case be remanded for resentencing. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals does not dispute that Ms. Daniels was entitled to have her youth considered as a mitigating sentencing factor. Nor does the court dispute that she has met the prejudice standard on appeal. *See* Appendix, pp. 5-7.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals finds no error because "the record contains no information on the reasons that defense counsel chose not to request an exceptional downward sentence based on Daniels' youthfulness." Appendix, p. 7. But the Court of Appeals misses a step in its analysis.

Even if an action by defense counsel is based on a strategic choice, that tactical decision must be *reasonable* in order to constitute effective assistance. *See In re Davis*, 152
Wn.2d 647, 714, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (*citing State v. McNeal*, 145
Wn.2d 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002)). Even deliberate tactical choices can constitute ineffective assistance of counsel if they fall outside the range of "competent assistance." *Id*.

Here, defense counsel had *absolutely nothing to lose* by arguing that Ms. Daniels's status as a teenager posed an additional mitigating factor and gave the court the authority to sentence her below the standard range. Even if failure to make that argument was a tactical choice, it was not a reasonable one.

In fact, this court has held that "every defendant is entitled to ask the trial court to consider [an available exceptional sentence downward] and to have the alternative

actually considered." Mulholland, 161 Wn.2d at 334 (emphasis added). A court commits a "'fundamental defect' resulting in a miscarriage of justice" by failing to properly consider "an authorized mitigated sentence." McFarland, 189 Wn.2d at 58.

The failure of Ms. Daniels's defense attorney to recognize and point out that her youth acted as a mitigating factor and gave the court authority to sentence her below the standard range denied her the opportunity to have that alternative considered. There is no possible tactical reason for counsel's failure. The Court of Appeals' reasoning regarding the lack of record regarding Ms. Daniels's attorney's thought process is unavailing.

Ms. Daniels's defense attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing by unreasonably failing to request an exceptional sentence below the standard range based on his client's youth. *Id.* The Court of Appeals should have remanded her case for resentencing with that factor properly considered. *Id.*

This Court should accept review of this issue pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). If allowed to stand, the Court of Appeals' reasoning – finding that Ms. Daniels cannot demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel because the record does not demonstrate her attorney's reasons for unreasonably failing to raise her youthfulness at sentencing – would foreclose a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in nearly every appellate case. Indeed, a trial record almost never elucidates the reasons for an attorney's choices. This significant issue of constitutional law is of substantial public interest.

VI. CONCLUSION

The issues here are significant under the State and Federal Constitutions and undoubtedly impact a large number of criminal cases. The Supreme Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

The Court of Appeals' analysis regarding Ms. Daniels's ineffective assistance of counsel claim also conflicts with prior

rulings of this Court in *Davis*⁴ and *McNeal*⁵ by failing to consider whether any tactical decision by defense counsel was *reasonable* before determining that Ms. Daniels is unable to demonstrate that his failure fell below the level of competent representation. The Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).