FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/8/2021 4:11 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100183-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 54094-1-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

SEIRAH LYNN DANIELS,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division Two, And the Superior Court of Lewis County

JONATHAN MEYER
Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 35564

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office Office ID 91182 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

B. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES:

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly conclude there was a factual basis for Daniels' plea, under accomplice liability, to Rape of a Child in the Second Degree?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals correctly conclude that the lack of a sufficient record below precludes the court from speculating as to an attorney's reasons for their tactical decisions when evaluating an ineffective assistance of counsel claim?

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

In an attempt to resolve her Rape of a Child in the Second Degree charges, Daniels entered into a plea deal with the Prosecutor's Office. RP 3-4. Daniels was charged as a co-defendant with her husband, Johnny Roach, in the rape of 12-year-old K.M.U. 1-3. Daniels was an active

participant in the sexual assault of the child, holding down K.M.U. while Roach raped K.M.U. CP 1-3, 13, 19-20.

Per the plea agreement, Daniels was required to plead as charged, agree to cooperate with the prosecution of her husband in various ways, and if she complied with all the terms, the State would allow Daniels to withdraw her plea and enter a plea to Rape of Child in the Third Degree, which offered a significant reduction in prison time. Id. Daniels has petitioned for review. Daniels pleaded guilty to Rape of a Child in the Second Degree. RP 2-8; CP 4-16. The Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty to Sex Offense stated,

In Lewis County Wa, between October 1, 2017 and December 31, 2017, my 18 year old husband engaged in sexual intercourse with KMU (dob 9-12-05). KMU was 12 years old and not married to or in a state registered domestic partnership with my husband (Johnny Roach). I aided, and encouraged this sex act.

CP 13.

Daniels breached her plea deal with the State and therefore did not get the benefit of the lesser charge and sentence. RP 18-25. Daniels' attorney acknowledged Daniels breached her plea deal, that she did not testify truthfully, "did everything she could to undermine" the State's case during cross-examination, and there was no explanation for Daniels' behavior during trial. RP 19-21. Daniels was ultimately sentenced within the standard range to 96 months to life in prison. RP 24; CP 29

Daniels appealed her plea and sentence. Daniels argued there was not a factual basis for her plea and her attorney was ineffective for failing to argue for a mitigated sentence based upon her youthful age at the time of the offense. *Daniels*, Slip. Op. 3-7. Daniels also argued various terms of her community custody were inappropriate. *Id.* at 8-13. The court of appeals agreed the conditions of community custody were wrongly imposed and ordered them stricken from Daniels' judgment and sentence. *Id.*

The court of appeals rejected Daniels' other arguments and affirmed her guilty plea and sentence, except previously noted stricken conditions of community custody. *Id.* at 3-7, 13.

The State will supplement the facts in the argument section below.

D. ARGUMENT.

Daniels asserts the factual basis of her plea and ineffective assistance of counsel claims warrant review by this Court. Daniels argues review of her case is necessary by this Court due to significant questions of law under the Constitution of the United States or Washington State and there are substantial issues of public interest that this Court should determine. RAP 13.4(b)(3),(4). According to Daniels, both issues she raises meet both of these criteria for review. See Petition. Daniels' asserted errors were properly disposed of by the court of appeals. This Court should deny review.

 Daniels' Due Process Rights Were Not Violated During Her Guilty Plea, There Was A Factual Basis For Daniels' Plea, Therefore Review Is Not Warranted.

Daniels argues, as she did below, that there was an insufficient factual basis for her guilty plea. Daniels bases her argument upon the premise that she was convicted as an accomplice and the plea form lacked the statutory language of accomplice liability. Petition 7-11. Daniels argues to this Court the factual basis of her plea is an issue of constitutional magnitude requiring review. RAP 13.4(b)(3). The State does not deny that due process requires a defendant in a criminal matter must understand the nature of the charge or charges against them and may only enter a plea to the charge(s) voluntarily and knowingly. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; State v. Robinson, 172 Wn.2d 783, 790, 263 P.3d 1233 (2011) (citations omitted). Yet, contrary to Daniels' assertion, due process was satisfied in Daniels' case. A factual basis for Daniels'

plea was established. Therefore, review is not warranted, under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A plea cannot be considered voluntary if there is an insufficient factual basis for the plea. *In re Pers. Restraint of Evans*, 31 Wn. App. 330, 331, 641 P.2d 722 (1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 852 (1982). "The court shall not enter a judgment upon a plea of guilty unless it is satisfied that there is a factual basis for the plea." CrR 4.2(d). A defendant must understand the criminal conduct alleged satisfies the elements of the crime charged. *State v. R.L.D.*, 132 Wn. App. 699, 705, 133 P.3d 505 (2006).

In this matter, Daniels was charged and pleaded guilty to Rape of a Child in the Second Degree. CP 1-16. Daniels was an accomplice to her husband's rape of 12-year-old K.M.U. CP 1-3. The elements of Rape of Child in the Second Degree are: a "person has sexual intercourse with another who is at least twelve years old but less than fourteen years old and not married to the perpetrator and

the perpetrator is at least thirty-six months older than the victim." RCW 9A.44.073(1). To satisfy accomplice liability, the State is required to prove the person who was an accomplice, "[w]ith knowledge that it will promote or facility the commission of the crime, [the person]: (i) [s]olicits, commands, encourages, or requests such other person to commit it; or (ii) [a]ids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing it." RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a).

Daniels' plea statement reads: "My 18 year old husband engaged in sexual intercourse with KMU (dob 9-12-05). KMU was 12 years old and not married to or in a state registered partnership with my husband (Johnny Roach). I aided, and encouraged this sex act." CP 13. While not using the statutory language for accomplice liability, the plea statement is clear that Daniels did not only aid her husband in raping K.M.U., she encouraged it. Daniels statement establishes she encouraged her adult

husband to have sex with a child. This does not merit review by this Court.

2. <u>Daniels' Claim Of Ineffective Assistance Of</u> Counsel Does Not Warrant Review.

Daniels argues the court of appeals incorrectly decided her ineffective assistance of counsel claim, and this warrants review by this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3),(4), because her counsel failed to request a mitigated sentence based on Daniels being a youthful offender. Petition 12-22. Daniels asserts the court of appeals missed a step in its analysis of her claim. According to Daniels, this misapplication of the law requires review. The court of appeals correctly decided Daniels' ineffective assistance of counsel argument, therefore review is not warranted.

In support of her argument, Daniels asserts, "Nor does the court [of appeals] dispute that [Daniels] has met the prejudice standard on appeal." Petition 19, citing *Daniels*, Slip Op. 5-7. This is not accurate. The court of

appeals declined to reach the ultimate issue of ineffective assistance of counsel because it would not speculate regarding the reasoning for Daniels' attorney's decisions due to a sparse record lacking information to establish the reasons. The court of appeals noted in a footnote that Daniels could bring a collateral attack. *Id.* n.1. Such a motion or petition would allow Daniels to bring in extrinsic evidence to assist her in proving her ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *State v. Linville*, 191 Wn.2d 513, 525-26, 426 P.3d 842 (2018). The court simply did not have the record necessary to make the determination here.

The court of appeals also explained, in another footnote, that if it were to reach the merits, Daniels had not shown her counsel was ineffective. *Id.* n.2. The court of appeals reasoned, because there was no "reasonable probability that the trial court would have imposed a sentence below the standard range" if Daniels' attorney had argued for a mitigated sentence based upon youth,

Daniels fails to show prejudice. *Id.*, *citing State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). This explanation was clearly an in the alternative explanation with a presumption of prejudice not shown due to the lack of record.

Daniels was sentenced after breaching her plea agreement. *Id.* at 2-3. Daniels, her attorney, the prosecutor, and the trial court, all understood her sentence was a result of the plea agreement, that she breached. *Id.* This is not a matter that is a significant question under the Constitution, nor is it an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3),(4). This Court should deny review.

E. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review of Daniels' petition. If this Court were to accept review on the other matters or request argument in this case, the State would respectfully request an opportunity to submit supplemental briefing.

This document contains 1,586 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the words count by RAP 18.17.